FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/13/2022 4:59 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100909-7 Court of Appeals No. 54382-6-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

MIKAYLA R. BYERS, Petitioner,

and

PAUL B. BYERS, Respondent.

Amended PETITION FOR REVIEW

Laura A. Carlsen, WSBA No. 41000

CARLSEN LAW OFFICES, PLLC 1001 Yakima Ave., Suite 7B Tacoma, WA 98405 Phone: 253-215-1849

Fax: 253-212-9828

Attorney for Petitioner, Mikayla R. Byers

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mikayla Byers, Appellant in the Court of Appeals, is the Petitioner before this Court in the above-captioned dissolution of marriage. She asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. DECISION BELOW

The Petitioner requests review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, opinion in case number 54382-6-II filed on April 5, 2022. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court should accept review under Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b)(1)-(2), for the following reasons:

- 1) Whether and to what extent the community has interest in real property that was paid for almost entirely by the community, maintained and improved by the community, altered significantly by the community, and otherwise funded by the community in an amount that eclipses both the initial value of the property as well as any minimal separate contributions made toward the property;
- 2) Whether the community's right to reimbursement from contributions to separate property is overcome by a technical separate property interest;
- 3) Whether long-held principles of community and separate property are, in effect, realized when commingling principles applied to all other forms of property are not applied to real property;

- 4) Whether long-held and statutorily required principles of equity in the dissolution of a marriage are, in effect, realized when the community's right to reimbursement is so substantial and unquantifiable due to intermingling/commingling but the property is nevertheless characterized as separate without any reimbursement award or apportionment of value;
- 5) Whether the Court of Appeals appropriately held that the mortgage rule applies when the down payment was satisfied with a debt that was transferred to a community credit card and paid off by the community.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Paul and Mikayla Byers began their relationship in 2001, began living together in 2002, and were married on July 19, 2003. CP 2413, CP Dec. of Mikayla Byers, dated

6/26/18; see also CP 760-66, 807-812. They separated fifteen years later on January 3, 2018, CP 2413, and their divorce case was finalized after trial on January 28, 2020. CP 2412-2418, 2419-25.

In her oral decision, it was determined that the parties' assets consisted primarily of the following:

- BCM, a community business valued at \$770,000;
- Centers of Health, a community business, valued at \$187,000;
- Real property located at 9003 Canyon Drive, characterized as Dr. Byers' separate property, valued at \$365,000;

CP 2376. After splitting the community property and awarding Dr. Byers the Canyon Drive property, his total share of assets was \$1,045,146.50, and Ms. Byers' share was \$829,206. CP 2376-77.

At issue in this Petition is the community's interest in the Canyon Drive property where BCM is located.

On July 31, 2000, Dr. Byers signed a contract with John S. Huber, then owner of the property located at 9003 Canyon Drive. Trial Exhibit ("Ex.") 1, p. 17.

Payments for the Property

The contract signed by Dr. Byers specific two sums to be paid: \$90,000 down with \$60,000 paid in monthly installments. Ex. 1.

Regarding the \$90,000 down payment, both parties testified that this initial \$90,000 was paid with a Home Equity Line of Credit ("HELOC"), which was paid off during the parties' marriage. VRP 55 (Vol. 1), 367 (Vol. 5), 682. At first, Dr. Byers testified that he paid rent from Byers Chiropractic and Massage ("BCM") to the building

(himself) as a business expense, but admitted the payments were never made to a separate account until June of 2018, when he filed for divorce. VRP 372-73.

During trial, he was asked "So how do you know whether or not you were making the home equity line of credit payment with the rent if you didn't keep it separate?" VRP 377-78. His answer was "I guess I wouldn't know that." VRP 377-78.

Regarding the other \$60,000 owed to the Seller, payments of \$590.86 were made to the Seller until 2005, when the parties paid off the remainder using "an American Express card with a very high limit, credit limit, and a very low interest rate" and "some cashier's checks." VRP 59. While Dr. Byers testified that he paid off the American Express credit card with "rents collected," he

admitted that he collected no separate rent and that the American Express card was a business card for the parties' community business, BCM, that was paid by the parties.

VRP 59-60, 83. In fact, until he filed for divorce, there were no separate bank accounts for the property or payments made from the business to the property – the business just made the payments directly. VRP 378-79 (Vol. 1).

During the marriage, a real estate holding company was created called "Living Well Properties" with 9003

Canyon Drive as its only asset. VRP 378-79 (Vol. 5). Until Dr. Byers filed for divorce, there were no bank accounts for Living Well Properties, but in June of 2018, he created a bank account for Living Well Properties and started paying it "rent" because "like I said before, you get kind of

sloppy when it's – no one's – when it comes to divorce proceedings, then it kind of matters." VRP 379 (Vol. 1).

At trial, Dr. Byers produced one financial statement for Living Well Properties dated June 30, 2018. Ex. 5. The only assets included were the building and \$36,000 in rent, although the Living Well Properties bank account had no such funds. VRP 590-93 (Vol. 7); Exs. 191-92.

Despite being a separate business entity from Living Well Properties, BCM paid attorney fees for "Living Well Properties" on 11/1/18 from the same business account that paid for business expenses such as payroll, licensing, insurance, and personal expenses, such as Dr. Byers' car payment and haircuts. Ex. 169. Other building expenses and costs paid by BCM are outlined below under "Maintenance and Repairs."

Lease Agreement

At trial, Dr. Byers provided a copy of one lease between BCM Massage and Living Well Properties that fixed the rent at \$6,000 per month, and it was not executed until just before the parties' separation. Ex. 4; VRP 65 (Vol. 1). During his deposition, he stated that he pays himself the \$6,000 per month in rent per an "agreement that's not finalized[.]" CP 1351. At trial, he then asserted that he had a lease between the building and the business for all 20 years it had been in business, but could only produce one unsigned copy of a lease from 2017. VRP 613 (Vol. 7).

Trial Exhibit 4 contains the one commercial lease

dated 9/5/2017 that was executed between Living Well

Properties and BCM to pay \$6,000 per month for 10 years.

Ex. 4. This lease broke down the responsibilities of the business versus the responsibilities of the building owner, requiring the building owner to pay real estate taxes, repairs, and property insurance. Ex. 4 p. 1-2. The Lease was signed by "Dr. Paul Byers." Ex. 4, p. 5.

Further, the appraiser hired by Dr. Byers determined that this property's value aside from the parties' community chiropractic business was minimal, and its Highest and Best Use was to remain the location for the parties' community chiropractic business. Ex. 1-3.

Rent Payments

Dr. Byers testified that he was "sloppy" and that his process for paying himself rent had been "muddy for the last – well, for quite a while actually." VRP 375 (Vol. 5).

According to the lease Dr. Byers provided at trial, BCM was required to pay \$6,000 rent per month for 10 years from 9/5/2017. Trial Exhibit 4, p. 1.

However, Dr. Byers testified during his deposition that he never paid rent from the BCM business account to a building account or separate account. DEP 1, p 71. VRP 374-75. He further testified that the BCM business account that was paying rent was also used to pay personal expenses for the family. VRP 378. Any checks from BCM for the building were written to him and deposited into a personal account he shared with Ms. Byers. VRP 482.

Dr. Byers included the rent payments as a business expense each year. Ex. 356. During trial, Dr. Byers admitted he had not actually been paying himself rent in

2017 and 2018. VRP 590-93 (Vol. 7). He was asked if he had "any evidence whatsoever that [he] kept a separate account and didn't commingle it with Byers Chiropractic" and his answer was "From – from 2000, no." VRP 374 (Vol. 5). He was asked "Do you have any evidence at all prior to June of 2018 that you kept rent payments separate and apart from Byers Chiropractic," and his answer was "I don't think I have any evidence of that, no." VRP 374 (Vol. 5).

Then, this exchange happened during Dr. Byers' cross-examination by Ms. Byers' counsel:

- Q: Dr. Byers, if I told you that I spent hours last night tabbing each transaction history for all of your bank accounts from 2015 to 2019 and I didn't see a single rent payment, would that be possible?
- A: That would be possible because if they're bulk payments (unintelligible) ten grand \$10,000 deposit.

- O: But to where?
- A: Into the personal account.
- Q: And what else was in your personal account? Wages, earnings, Centers for Health money, commingled ...
- A: Centers for Health money went to a different account.
- Q: Was it commingled in your personal account with other deposits?
- A: I think those are all business accounts. I think Centers for Health had its own account, Charles Schwab, I believe.
- Q: So in what account were you keeping rent separate and apart from other funds?
- A: Separate and apart. I don't think there would be separate I'm not sure on that, separate and apart.

VRP 572-79 (Vol. 7). After a break, during which Dr. Byers indicated he "researched the issue," he was able to identify the account to which he paid rent in Exhibit 238,

Key Bank account x4138, and the following exchange happened:

- Q: And, Dr. Byers, you testified before we broke for Mr. Low's testimony that you believe if you kept a segregated account for rental payments, it would be the 4-1-3-8 account for Key Bank?
- A: 4-1-3-8, Exhibit 238.
- Q: Are there any other potential accounts that you utilized? . . .
- A: No. I think the 4-1-3-8 was the one we used. From 2015 up to August 2017, it was closed. During that time frame, there was no rents being paid until May 5th or until May of 2018.
- Q: So you didn't pay yourself any rent from what time period?
- A: August 2017 until May 2018. . . .
- Q: Dr Byers, can you turn to Exhibit 238 And can you identify this account?
- A: 4-1-3-8, KeyBank personal account.
- Q: And is this a personal account in both your name and in your wife's name?

- A: It looks like it is, yes.
- Q: Okay. So did you keep rental payments in an account that was separate from the community?
- A: For this one, no. There were multiple payments that went into that.
- Q: Okay. Can you tell me where the rental payments show up to both you and to Ms. Byers who were on this account?
- A: They're all if it ends in 4-7-3-1, they would be considered rent payments or distributions to ourselves, one of the two.
- Q: So how can you tell the difference between rent payments and distributions?
- A: You really can't but the the accountant would reconcile that at the end of the year.
- Q: The accountant reconciles it or you tell him what the number is because you don't give him any underlying data; correct?¹

¹Ex. 5, which is Living Well Properties financial statements, contains a letter from Dr. Byers' accountant with the following message: "Management has elected to omit the statement of cash flows and retained earnings and substantially all of the disclosures required by generally

- A: I would tell him what it was, yes.
- Q: So you just made transfers from your business account to an account named for both you and your wife –
- A: That's correct.
- Q: -- Paul Byers and Mikayla Byers, and you did not track the amount that was paid for rent and the amount that was paid for distributions; correct?
- A: No, it was not separated.
- Q: So when you testified yesterday that you kept rental payments separate and apart, that was not correct, was it?
- A: That was not correct. It was until we started in until we could separate it, that's correct.

accepted accounting principles. If the omitted statements and disclosures were included in the financial statements, they might influence the user's conclusions about the company's financial position and results of operations. Accordingly, these financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such matters." See also Ex. 7 financial statements for Paul B. Byers DC, Inc. (BCM's holding company) with the same message.

- Q: Until June of 2018 when you filed for divorce; correct?
- A: That's correct.
- Q: But prior to that, those rental payments were commingled in your community account with Ms. Byers; is that accurate?
- A: I guess it would be well, when we were married, yes.
- Q: Okay. Aside from your year-end taxes, which your accountant bases solely upon your word, there is no other way to track how much was considered rent and how much was considered a distribution or wages or any other type of profit; correct?
- A: I gave them a set amount that we were paying for rents.
- Q: And you testified prior, that was just a number you picked, kind of, out of thin air; is that correct?
- A: That's correct.
- Q: So are you asserting that you kept rental payments separate and apart in any manner?

A: Before we were married, yes; when we were together, no.

VRP 590-93 (Vol. 7).

Trial Exhibit 238 contains Key Bank checking x4138 account statements for a personal account in the name of Paul and Mikayla Byers. Ex. 238. Deposits into the account include transfers from BCM's Key Bank business checking x0236 as well as one of the parties' joint saving accounts, Key Bank x3399. Ex. 238. Deposits came from many other accounts as well as Groupon (for the parties' Centers of Health community business) and even ATM cash deposits. Ex. 238. Monthly deposits ranged from \$29,099.08 total to \$7,192.71 with varying amounts and payment sources each month. Ex. 238.

Withdrawals from this account included credit card payments, student loan payments, transfers to the parties'

other accounts, cash withdrawals, Paypal, USPS, and other miscellaneous payments. Ex. 238.

Trial Exhibit 239 contains cancelled checks for this account with payments for park entrance fees, campground fees, BCM expenses, checks to the parties, speeding tickets, Montana Fish and Wildlife, Boy Scouts, a storage unit, library fees, etc. Ex. 239. Trial Exhibits 240-243 contain similar statements for additional years in the same account.

Property Taxes for the Building

The lease agreement Dr. Byers provided, dated 9/5/2017, specifically required the landlord/Living Well Properties to "pay all real estate taxes and assessments for the Premises." Ex. 4, p. 2.

No proof of payments from Living Well Properties or a separate account holding collected rents for real estate taxes was provided. Instead, property tax invoices for the building were sent to "Byers Paul B DC INC," which is the name of the BCM corporation. Ex. 348. The parties paid these property taxes with a BCM business credit card, VRP 380, and the payments were characterized as a BCM "business expense." VRP 379-80 (Vol. 5). Profit and Loss Statements for BCM also reflect annual deductions for real estate taxes, although the parties owned no other real property than 9003 Canyon Drive at the time. Ex. 356.

Maintenance and Repairs

According to the one lease Dr. Byers provided at trial, the landlord was required to pay and be responsible for repairs to the Premises. Ex. 4, p. 2. However, Dr. Byers

testified that maintenance and repairs for the building were paid with the business credit card for BCM. VRP 379 (Vol. 5). At the time of trial, he indicated that he had not obtained a credit card for Living Well Properties. VRP 379-80 (Vol. 5).

Ms. Byers agreed with this testimony, saying that when expenses for the building came up over the years, they were typically paid by the business bank account.

VRP 672-73 (Vol. 8). This same account was in her sole name for over ten years. VRP 673 (Vol. 8). Kevin

Grambush, CPA, testified regarding BCM paying for building expenses:

[T]he building is owned personally and so the type of repairs, like parking lot repairs, that would be typically paid by the . . . building owner, not the business owner. If this was a fair market rental situation, the business would not be paying for these repairs.

VRP 301 (Vol. 4). Despite this, evidence presented at trial showed that BCM regularly paid for building expenses, maintenance, and repairs, including:

- 1) Parking lot repair, re-striping, and repaving. Exs. 169, 403-04, 407-07, 410, 412;
- 2) Gutter repair in 12/2018 for \$3,602.50, Exs. 405-06;
- 3) Sewer Repair, Exs. 405-06;
- 4) Carpet Cleaning on 12/20/18 for \$19,145.50, Ex. 169;
- 5) Landscaping and "outside maintenance" going back years before separation, Ex. 169;
- 6) Roof inspection and repair, Ex. 169; and,
- 7) Window cleaning, Trial Exhibit 167-69.

BCM paid these expenses even after Living Well Properties was created. Ex. 169. Further, the accounts

from which these expenses were paid were also regularly used to pay for personal and business expenses. Exs. 156, 167, 169.

BCM further claimed these expenses as business expenses on BCM's taxes. Exhibit 356 contains Profit and Loss Statements for BCM from 2011-2012 and 2014-2018, all of which contain deductions for building expenses.

2011 deductions:

- a. Landscaping/cleaning, \$1,777.19;
- b. Windows, \$200;
- c. Building insurance, \$346.49;
- d. Fence, \$1,193.69.

2012 deductions:

- a. "Outside" expenses, \$391.21;
- b. Landscaping/cleaning, \$806.77;
- c. Windows, \$325;
- d. Supplies to build shed, \$7,608.63;
- e. Insurance, \$1,558.69.

2014 deductions:

- a. Landscaping/cleaning: \$121.23;
- b. Windows, \$325;
- c. LED Sign Repair, \$1,050;
- d. Insurance, \$1,847.13.

2015 deductions:

- a. Landscaping/cleaning, \$95.02;
- b. Windows, \$400;
- c. "Repairs," \$3,245.95;
- d. LED sign repair, \$506.33;
- e. Insurance, \$1,371.13.

2016 deductions:

- a. Landscaping/cleaning, \$140.55;
- b. Windows, \$450,
- c. New sign, \$13,749.36.

2017 deductions:

- a. Landscaping/cleaning, \$315.36;
- b. Windows, \$302;
- c. Security System, \$1,832.95;
- d. Insurance, \$1,572.52;
- e. Intercom, \$330;
- f. New Sign, \$8,602;
- g. "Repair," \$709.

2018 deductions:

- a. Landscaping/cleaning, \$3,356.69;
- b. Windows, \$409;
- c. Sewer repair, \$12,642.10;
- d. "Legal work," \$24,336.44;
- e. Parking lot repair, \$31,428.97;
- f. Roof repair, \$800;
- g. Paint, \$1,119.95;
- h. Home Depot, \$4,739.60;
- i. New gutter installation, \$3,602.50;
- j. Lunas Construction, \$19,145;
- k. Striping/cement blocks for parking lot, \$1,411.19;
- I. Molding/supplies, \$19.

Ex. 356. Regarding the LED sign on the building, Ms.

Byers testified that it was purchased with a credit card in her name. VRP 661 (Vol. 8).

Trial Court's Decision

In the trial court's oral decision, she stated, "[i]n regards to the Canyon Road building, I am not finding that commingling has been proved; \$365,000 will be awarded to Mr. Byers. That brings his total assets to

\$1,045,146.50." CP 2377. No reimbursement or shared value was provided to the community for the extensive funds spent on the property.

On Appeal

Ms. Byers timely appealed this decision, and on April 5, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the trial court's decision regarding the 9003 Canyon Drive property. P. 13-18. Ms. Byers timely filed this Petition for Review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Trial court decisions regarding the characterization of property are reviewed *de novo*. *In re Marriage of Neumiller*, 803 Wn. App. at 921 (citing *In re Marriage of Chumbley*, 150 Wn.2d 1, 5, 74 P.3d 129 (2003)).

//

ARGUMENT

Under RCW 26.09.080, the trial court in a dissolution matter must dispose of both community and separate property as is just and equitable. The reasoning behind this distinction, dating back to the 1800s, is that both spouses should share in the interest of property when "both spouses contribute to property acquisitions in a joint effort to promote the welfare of the relationship. Hence, an asset acquired onerously during the marriage is presumptively community property whereas one lucratively acquired ordinarily is not." Harry M. Cross, The Community Property Law, 61 Wash. L. Rev. 13, 28 (1986). "Onerously acquired" property is "by labor or industry or other valuable consideration," while "lucratively acquired"

property is "by gift, succession, inheritance, or other nonvaluable means." *Id.* at 27-28, n. 69-70.

Traditionally, this distinction is respected by determining the characterization of the asset at the "time of acquisition." *Id.* at 39. However, numerous exceptions and variations have been carved into this general principle ever since. Id. at 40-45. Estate of Buchanan, 89 Wn. 172, 154 P. 129 (1916); Ball v. Woodnurn, 190 Wn. 141, 66 P.2d 1138 (1937); Binge v. Mumm, 5 Wn.2d 446, 105 P.2d 689 (1940); In re Carmack's Estate, 133 Wn. 374, 233 P. 942 (1925); Cummings v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 135, 614 P.2d 1283 (1980); Doyle v. Landron, 80 Wn. 175, 141 P. 352 (1914); Estate of Finn, 106 Wn. 137, 179 P. 103 (1919); Finley v. Finley, 47 Wn.2d 307, 287 P.2d 475 (1955); Heintz v. Brown, 46 Wn. 387, 90 P. 211 (1907); Jacobs v. Hoitt, 119

Wn. 283, 205 P. 414 (1922); Main v. Scholl, 20 Wn. 205, 54
P. 1125 (1898); Marriage of Bepple, 37 Wn. App. 881, 683
P.2d 1131 (1984); Salisbury v. Meeker, 152 Wn. 146, 277 P.
376 (1929); Van Moss v. Sailors, 180 Wn. 269, 39 P.2d 397
(1934); Yesler v. Hochstettler, 4 Wn. 349, 30 P. 398 (1892).

The law favors characterization of property as community property "unless there is clearly no question of its [separate] character." *In re Marriage of Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d 756, 766, 976 P.2d 102 (1999). Property is not characterized by title or the name under which it is held. *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wn. App. 444, 448, 997 P.2d 447 (2000); *In re Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wn. App. 38, 848 P.2d 184 (1993).

When the character of property is in dispute, "the question of whether property is community or separate is

retrospectively determined by its character at the date the property was acquired." In re Marriage of Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213, 223, 978 P.2d 498 (1999) (citing *Baker v. Baker*, 80 Wn.2d 736, 745, 498 P.2d 315 (1972). "Where direct and positive evidence is proffered to the contrary, however, this presumption can be rebutted." In re Marriage of Zahm, 138 Wn.2d at 223 (citing In re Marriage of Olivares, 69 Wn. App. 324, 326, 848 P.2d 1281 (1993). Ultimately, the "test of character is 'whether it was acquired by community funds and community credit, or separate funds and the issues and profits thereof." In re Marriage of Sedlock, 69 Wn. App. 484, 506, 849 P.2d 1243 (1993) (citations omitted).

When the property to be characterized is real estate, this Court has adopted the mortgage rule, which is a

"legal tool used to characterize property acquired, using both community and separate funds, over a period of time," which analyzes the community's obligation and funds contributed toward the asset. In re Marriage of Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213, 224, 978 P.2d 498 (1999). When the real estate (or business) has been combined with personal services belonging to the community, "the rule is that all the income or increase will be considered as community property in the absence of a contemporaneous segregation of the income between the community and the separate estates." Hamlin v. Merlino, 44 Wn.2d 851, 272 P.2d 125 (1954) (citing Salisbury v. Meeker, 152 Wn. 146, 277 P. 376 (1929)).

For example, in *Buchanan*, stock acquired by the husband before marriage with separate funds was

characterized as community property. *In re Buchanan's Estate*, 89 Wn. 172, 154 P. 129 (1916). There, before

marriage, the husband and another man created a lumber

company, from which the husband purchased six shares

of its capital stock. *Id.* at 174.

After marriage, additional shares of stock were purchased, and the husband continued to work for the company in exchange for a small salary. *Id.* at 174-75.

Community credit and funds paid to that credit were used to expand, repair, and rebuild the company. *Id.* As the company's value increased, dividends were paid to the husband, which he deposited into the same bank account as his salary, which was an account used by both spouses for community expenses. *Id.* For these reasons, this Court held that the company was entirely community property

even though the husband had purchased some stock
before marriage because his separate contribution was
insignificant compared to the community contribution. *Id.*

Buchanan is far from the only case where an asset was deemed a community asset for the purpose of property division despite its separate property characteristics. This Court has recognized multiple times that when it is impossible to determine what percentage of an asset resulted from separate or community contributions, the asset should be deemed "community." See, e.g., Binge v. Mumm, 5 Wn.2d 446, 105 P.2d 689 (1940).

In this case, the property located at 9003 Canyon

Drive should also be characterized as community property

for the same reasons as *Buchanan*. First, the property at

9003 Canyon Drive was largely obtained and improved with community credit and funds. Dr. Byers signed the real estate contract shortly before the parties' relationship began, and it was undisputed that the community paid the \$90,000 during the marriage with community funds. It was also undisputed that the monthly amounts due to the seller were paid with community business funds and with a community credit card, for which Ms. Byers was also obligated. Further, the Statement of Facts above contains a laundry list of expenses paid from community funds, community credit, and the community business accounts. Dr. Byers was even held in contempt for some of these expenses as they violated the financial restraints in place, and he later used those same expenses to justify his request to lower child support and maintenance on

the basis that his income was lower because of these additional "business expenses."

Second, there was no separation between the community and the property until Dr. Byers filed for divorce in June of 2018. Before that time, Dr. Byers admitted there was no separate bank account used to collect rent and pay building expenses. Even after he created Living Well Properties, the community BCM continued to pay expenses for the building without reimbursement, and even after he created a separate bank account to collect rent for Living Well Properties, BCM continued to pay thousands in building and property repairs from BCM accounts as a BCM business expense.

At trial, Dr. Byers acknowledged that even the lease he created just before separation was not finalized or

followed. That lease required BCM to pay Living Well
Properties \$6,000 per month, but at trial, Dr. Byers
testified that he had not been paying rent in 2017 and
2018, and that any rent that was paid was not for a \$6,000
monthly amount and was indistinguishable from
dividends and his salary in the parties' joint personal
account.

The lease also required the landlord to pay property taxes, repairs, and property insurance, but as described above, BCM paid for those things. Dr. Byers testified that he basically gave his accountant the numbers to reconcile at the end of the year so he could file two separate tax returns, but otherwise, there was no separation between BCM, the parties, and the property.

Finally, and on many of the same bases as outlined above, the parties treated the property as theirs. Ms.

Byers testified about how they purchased a sign with her personal credit card. Any rent paid was deposited into their joint account along with deposits from BCM far exceeding any rent as well as funds from their Groupon business, and they used that account for personal expenses. Even after Dr. Byers filed for divorce, he described the property as their property.

Overall, the property was obtained and improved with community funds and community effort, and any contribution Dr. Byers made before marriage is insignificant considering the extensive contributions made by the community. Therefore, it should be held that it was an abuse of discretion to determine the property is

separate on the basis of "no commingling", especially since Dr. Byers specifically admitted the funds were commingled. VRP 590-93.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals'

determined that the property was separate due to the
mortgage rule, but did not address the very real facts that

1) the contract was signed just before the parties'
relationship began, 2) there was no cash down payment –
there was a loan that was made a community obligation
and was paid by the community, and 3) the community
paid almost entirely for the property and all associated
expenses.

Further, it is not just and equitable to award this property to Dr. Byers with no community reimbursement or apportionment. In each of the cases cited herein, there

was recognition of the community's right to reimbursement, and when it was impossible to calculate the amount of reimbursement because the amounts were hopelessly confused, then the property was deemed community. It is not just or equitable to award the entire value to Dr. Byers without any recognition of the community interest in this property.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Ms. Byers respectfully requests that this Court accept review under RAP 13.4, reverse the Court of Appeals, and hold that an equitable division of the assets and debts in this case warrants reflection of the community interest in the 9003 Canyon Drive property.

//