FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/15/2022 3:19 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100909-7 Court of Appeals No. 54382-6-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MIKAYLA R. BYERS

Petitioner

v.

PAUL B. BYERS,

Respondent.

Answer to Amended Petition for Review

Stephen A. Burnham, WSBA #13270 Hillary A. Holmes, WSBA #26208 CAMPBELL BARNETT PLLC Attorneys for Respondent

317 South Meridian Puyallup, Washington 98371 Phone: (253) 848-3513 Fax: (253) 845-4941 Email: steveb@campbellbarnettlaw.co

steveb@campbellbarnettlaw.com hillaryh@campbellbarnettlaw.com

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

V. ARGUMENT

- A. This Court Should Deny the Petition for Review.
- 1. The Petitioner Fails to Meet the Standards for Acceptance of Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) provides that the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

It is unclear which if any sections of RAP 13.4(b) are the basis for Mrs. Byers Petition. The Petition's Table of Contents does include a reference that the Court of Appeals decision "conflicts with Supreme Court Decisions". However,

the Petitioner does not identify in her Petition what Supreme
Court decisions conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in
this case. Instead the Petitioner simply reargues her assertions
made to the Court of Appeals and asks this Court to accept
review because the Petitioner does not want to accept the
Court of Appeals affirmation of the Trial Court's finding and
conclusions that the Canyon Road Property was and is Mr.
Byers separate property.

Instead of identifying and explaining how the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any particular Supreme Court authority, Mrs. Byers argues the Court of Appeals abused its discretion and failed to consider facts presented through the record on appeal. *Petition* at pages 37-38. These arguments do not establish conflicts between the Court of Appeals decision and Supreme Court case authorities. Petitioner's arguments simply express her disagreement with the Court of Appeals decision. That is not sufficient to meet the standards for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

2. Petitioner seeks discretionary review not based on conflicts between the Court of Appeals decision and Supreme Court authorities, but over Petitioner's refusal to accept the facts and law determined by both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals.

To support her Petition, Mrs. Byers alleges the Court of Appeals "did not address the very real facts that 1) the contract was signed just before the parties' relationship started, 2) there was no cash down payment- there was a loan that was made a community obligation and was paid by the community, and 3) the community paid almost entirely for the property and all associated expenses." *Petition*, page 38. These statement are simply untrue.

The Court of Appeals' decision addresses all three of issues the Petitioner claims were ignored. Appendix A *Court of Appeals Decision* pages 13-18. The record of this case clearly establishes that Mr. Byers purchased the Canyon Road Property in 2000 as his separate property – 3 years before he married Mrs. Byers - with a cash down payment of \$90,000 made with proceeds from a loan he took out on the equity of

the home he purchased in 1988 – 15 years before he married Mrs. Byers. Mrs. Byers was never obligated on either the Real Estate Contract for the Canyon Road Property or the loan on Mr. Byers home. The Trial Court and Court of Appeals followed Supreme Court authorities in concluding the Canyon Road Property was Mr. Byers' separate property when he purchased it in July of 2000.